NO. 22-ICA-58

IN THE WEST VIRGINIA INTERMEDIATE COURT OF APPEALS

ICA EFiled: Nov 28 2022 04:09PM EST Transaction ID 68445917

JASON RYAN MOORHEAD,

Plaintiff Below, Petitioner,

v.

Civil Action No.: 18-C-71 Honorable Steven L. Shaffer

WEST VIRGINIA ARMY NATIONAL GUARD, and WEST VIRGINIA MOUNTAINEER CHALLENGE ACADEMY,

Defendants Below, Respondents.

PETITIONER'S BRIEF

Counsel for Petitioner:

Stephen P. New, Esq. (#7756) New, Taylor & Associates 430 Harper Park Drive PO Box 5516

Beckley, WV 25801 Telephone: (304) 250-6017

Facsimile: (304) 250-6012

Email: steve@newlawoffice.com

Counsel for Respondents:

ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- I. The Circuit Court of Preston County erred in dismissing Plaintiff's Complaint based upon a finding that Defendants were entitled to qualified immunity, Plaintiff's claims are not subject to immunity and/or fall under clearly recognized exceptions to immunity
- II. The Circuit Court of Preston County erred in determining that failure to apply the detailed, mandatory protocol regulating how students were to exit their bunks constituted a discretionary, as opposed to a ministerial, duty.
- III. The Circuit Court of Preston County erred in determining that Plaintiff had no right to a "safe and secure [learning] environment" implicit in the right to education under the West Virginia Constitution merely because the Mountaineer Challenge Academy is not a traditional, public school.
- IV. The Circuit Court of Preston County erred in determining that Mountaineer Challenge

 Academy's actions had not violated Plaintiffs right to an education under the West

 Virginia Constitution.
- V. The Circuit Court of Preston County erred in determining that Mountaineer Challenge
 Academy is not subject to the doctrine of in loco parentis.
- VI. The Circuit Court of Preston County erred in determining that there was no genuine dispute of material fact concerning whether Mountaineer Challenge Academy's actions toward Plaintiff were fraudulent, malicious, and/or oppressive under the facts of this case, that determination should be made by a jury.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This matter comes before the Intermediate Court of Appeals of West Virginia on appeal of Jason Ryan Moorhead, the Plaintiff below ("Petitioner" or "Moorhead") from an order granting

the *Motion for Summary Judgment* of Defendants below, the West Virginia Army National Guard and the Mountaineer Challenge Academy, an affiliate thereof (collectively "MCA" or "Respondents"). Petitioner alleged, *inter alia*, that MCA's failure to enforce its own guidelines regarding how students are to exit their beds proximately caused the exacerbation of Petitioner's pre-existing leg injuries, which ultimately led to him being unfairly dismissed from the MCA because of a purported lack of participation.

Petitioner's *Complaint* contains the following counts: Failure to Notify Parent; Failure to Seek Proper Medical Treatment; Failure to Provide a Safe Environment; Failure to Supervise; Breach of Fiduciary Duty; and Unconscionable Conduct. (*Complaint* ("*Compl.*"), Appendix Record ("A.R.") 6-10). Petitioner alleged that Respondents are liable because they were required pursuant to the West Virginia Constitution and/or the doctrine of *in loco parentis* to provide Petitioner with a safe and secure learning environment and that MCA failed to enforce its mandatory protocol regulating how students were to exit from the top bunk during the playing of Reveille.

Petitioner seeks compensatory, consequential, and incidental damages, including the cost of medical bills incurred as a result of Respondents' wrongful conduct. Petitioner also seeks his costs, attorney fees, and pre- and post-judgment interest to the full extent permitted by law.

Petitioner filed Plaintiff's Motion for Leave to File Amended Complaint, Plaintiff's Memorandum in Support of Motion for Leave to File Amended Complaint, and a [Proposed Amended Complaint (collectively "Motion for Leave to Amended") on July 13, 2021. (A.R. 24-40.) Respondents filed Defendants' Response in Opposition to Plaintiff's Motion for Leave to File Amended Complaint. (A.R. 41-51.)

Respondents filed a Motion for Summary Judgment on December 1, 2021, arguing that

MCA was protected by qualified immunity. (*Defendants' Motion for Summary Judgment* ("*Motion'*"), A.R. 68-335.) On that same day, Respondents also filed a *Motion to Dismiss* seeking dismissal of the *Complaint* on the basis that Respondents were entitled to qualified immunity. (*Defendants' Motion to Dismiss* ("*Motion to Dismiss'*"), A.R. 52-67.) Respondents argued that they were entitled to qualified immunity because they were engaged in discretionary acts; Petitioner failed to allege violation of a clearly established right or law; if a violation occurred, Petitioner failed to alleged the violation was a proximate cause of his injuries; and, Petitioners only alleged negligence. (*Id.*)

Petitioner filed a combined response to the *Motion to Dismiss* and the *Motion for Summary Judgment*. (*Plaintiff Jason Ryan Moorhead's Combined Memorandum in Response to Defendants' Motion to Dismiss and Motion for Summary Judgment* ("Combined Response"), A.R. 336-540.) Petitioner asserted, and still asserts, that his claims are not subject to qualified immunity and/or fall under clearly recognized exceptions thereto.

Additionally, Petitioner filed a Motion for Partial Summary Judgment of Plaintiff Jason Ryan Moorhead ("Petitioner's Motion for Summary Judgment") and accompanying Memorandum in Support on the issue of proximate cause. (A.R. 541-665.) Petitioner sought judgment as a matter of law on the issues of whether his exit from the top bunk was the proximate cause of the aggravation of his pre-existing condition and necessitated the need for his surgery and other medical treatment. Further, Petitioner sought judgment as a matter of law that the medical expenses that he incurred as a result of the surgery were reasonable and necessary, and, thus, recoverable as damages by him. Defendants filed a response addressing the issue of negligence, which was not argued in Petitioner's Motion for Summary Judgment, and disputed the interpretation of the testimony of each of the parties' experts. (Defendants' Response in

Opposition to Plaintiff's Motion for Partial Summary Judgment ("Response to Petitioner's Motion for Summary Judgment"), A.R. 666-895.) Defendants further argued that the medical expenses were not reasonable and necessary.

Additionally, the parties below entered into an Agreed Order to Seal the Exhibits to Defendants' Response in Opposition to Plaintiff's Motion for Partial Summary Judgment because a portion of the exhibits contained psychological records of Petitioner. (A.R. 685-688.)

The Preston County Circuit Court conducted several hearings regarding the pending motions of the parties below. On August 20, 2021, a remote hearing was held regarding *Plaintiff's Motion for Leave to File Amended Complaint*. (*Transcript of Proceedings Held on August 20, 2021 ("August 2021 Trans."*) A.R. 896-921.) Petitioner's counsel withdrew the *Motion* at the hearing. (A.R. 913, lines 22-24).

Another hearing was held on June 22, 2022. (*Transcript of Proceedings Held on June 22, 2022 ("Jun. 2022 Trans."*), A.R. 925-998.) This hearing was a continuation of a hearing held on February 23, 2022 regarding the pending motions of the parties below. (*Order Regarding Hearing on Parties' Dispositive Motions*, A.R. 922-924 and *Jun. 2022 Trans.*, 927, lines 8-11.) A transcript of that hearing is not available because the recording equipment was inoperable.

On July 28, 2022, the Circuit Court of Preston County entered its *Order Granting Defendants' Motion for Summary Judgment* ("*Order*"), determining that Respondents were entitled to qualified immunity and dismissed Petitioner's *Complaint*. (A.R. 999-1013.) Having granted the *Motion* on this basis, the Circuit Court did not consider the remaining arguments in *Defendants' Motion for Summary Judgment* or the other pending motions. (A.R. 68-335.) It is from this Order that Petitioner now appeals.

MCA accepted Petitioner to its program in 2015 and Petitioner began the program on July

12. (*Order*, A.R. 1001.) The program initially consists of an orientation and acclimation period. (*Id.*) The acclimation period is two weeks and during that period, employees of MCA determine whether the participants will stay in the program or be discharged. (*Id.*)

The Circuit Court opined that the parties below agreed on the timeline for the events, which Petitioner disputes. (*Id.* at A.R. 1001-1002.) The Circuit Court concluded that the parties below agreed to the following timeline:

- 1. Petitioner participated in orientation for MCA on July 12, 2015;
- 2. Petitioner underwent a routine medical examination on July 15, 2015;
- 3. On July 17, 2015, Petitioner exited the top bunk in an improper manner;
- 4. On July 18, 2015, an employee of MCA took Petitioner to see a Preston Memorial Hospital nurse;
- 5. On July 18, 2015, Petitioner was provided with crutches by an unknown person;
- 6. On July 20, 2015, a nurse practitioner placed Petitioner on lower body restrictions, which meant no physical activity;
- 7. On July 22, 2015, Dr. Pumphrey cleared Petitioner of any physical restrictions;
- 8. On July 22, 2015, MCA discharged Petitioner from the program; and,
- 9. Between July 19, 2015 and July 22, 2015, MCA staff issued 19 write-ups for Petitioner.

(Id.)

The parties below also agreed on the fact that Respondents were state agencies and no insurance policy waived the defense of qualified immunity. (*Id.*, A.R. 1004.)

Using only this limited information, the Circuit Court found that "no genuine issues of material fact arise in this matter due to the agreed facts by counsel and the parties." (*Id.* at 1003.)

In reaching this conclusion, the Circuit Court stated it was considering the issues of whether MCA actions were discretionary and if the acts were discretionary whether they violated clearly established statutory or constitutional rights which a reasonable person would have known or were otherwise fraudulent malicious or oppressive. (*Id.* at 1005.)

MCA was granted a special alternative school status by the Legislature in 2005. (Deposition of Robert Morris, Corporate Representative ("Morris Depo."), A.R. 367.) This legislation gave schools the ability to transfer a student to MCA without having the student drop from their school. (*Id.*) MCA has admissions counselors who go to public high schools for recruitment purposes. (Morris Depo., A.R. 369.) In fact, Moorhead was recruited in this manner. (Personal Application Letter, A.R. 389.) Moorhead wanted to attend MCA to get a better education. (*Id.*) If Moorhead had been able to complete the 22-week MCA program and meet all of the requirements, then pass his equivalency diploma, then he would have been "done with the public school as a high school graduate." (Morris Depo., A.R. 369-370.)

MCA represents that it "adheres to the eight core components as a bedrock for instruction" as stated in it mission statement. (*Id.*) The eight core components are: "1. Academic Excellence; 2. Life Coping Skills; 3. Job Skills; 4. Health and Hygiene; 5. Responsible Citizenship; 6. Service to the Community; 7. Leadership/Followership; and 8. Physical Fitness."

The quasi-military program of MCA controlled everything Moorhead did. Moorhead was told when to wake up; when to go to sleep; where he was going to be during the day; when, where, and how to exercise; what to wear; and when to eat. (Morris Depo., A.R. 374.) p. 20.) This was all done in a residential setting with adult supervision. (*Id.*)

Robert Morris, state director of MCA, established that the goal of MCA is to "provide a

¹ https://wvchallenge.org/about-us/core-components/, accessed December 2, 2021.

safe environment" and "do the best for the candidates." (Morris Depo. A.R. 364-366 and 384.) Nothing is "more paramount than the safety of the cadets in the 22-week residential phase." (Morris Depo., A.R. 377.) MCA admits that it is important to take steps proactively to prevent injuries and to address and treat any injuries of a cadet. (Morris Depo., A.R. 376.)

Students at MCA are supervised 24/7. (Morris Depo., A.R. 373-374.) Sharon Moorhead, Plaintiff's mother, signed a Power of Attorney and Voluntary Appointment of Guardian as part of Moorhead's application. (Power of Attorney and Voluntary Appointment of Guardian, A.R. 388.) MCA also is granted a power of attorney to give them "the ability to take their child to the doctor and make sure they are being treated well." (Morris Depo., A.R. 372 and Health Care Power of Attorney, A.R. 388) MCA contracts for treatment with a medical provider that has an office in a MCA building. (Morris Depo., A.R. 375.) Moorhead was seen by these medical providers, Preston Memorial, for a medical examination upon presentation for their residency at MCA. (Morris Depo., A.R. 379.) He was cleared for participation. (Morris Depo., A.R. 378.)

Moorhead was awoken by Reveille and had 21 seconds to go from the prone position asleep to standing at attention next to their rack. (Morris Depo., A.R. 380.) At 5:00 a.m., the lights go on; it is identified as time to get up; and Reveille is played, loudly. (Morris Depo., A.R. 380-381.) According to Mr. Morris as corporate representative, the official policy regarding the method for exiting the top rack was to slide down on the back or belly. (Morris Depo., A.R. 376.)²

A detailed analysis of the safety issues related to exiting from the top bunk was performed by Lisa A. Thorsen, Ed. D., an expert retained by Petitioner. Dr. Thorsen obtained her doctorate in education in 2012. (Deposition of Lisa A. Thorsen, Ed. D. ("Dr. Thorsen Depo."), A.R. 394.)

² This testimony directly contradicts Morris' testimony taken in his individual capacity, as well as the deposition testimony of the prior director of MCA as to what constitutes a safe method of exiting the bunks.

She also obtained a Master's of Science in education and rehabilitation counseling and a Bachelor of Science in education. (*Id.*) Dr. Thorsen is currently certified as a school district administrator, playground safety inspector, and rehabilitation counselor. (Dr. Thorsen Depo., A.R. 395.) Dr. Thorsen previously provided expert review of residential programs, alternative schools, and schools. (Dr. Thorsen Depo., A.R. 396.) The Circuit Court did not consider any of Dr. Thorsen's testimony in reaching the decision to grant judgment as a matter of law.

Dr. Thorsen classified MCA as a residential alternative school. (Dr. Thorsen Depo., A.R. 396.) The students at MCA consist of youths of secondary education age that are at risk of not graduating. (Dr. Thorsen Depo., A.R. 397-398.) The school has a structure requiring policies and procedures. (Dr. Thorsen Depo., A.R. 398.) Creating policies and procedures requires risk analysis and preventative policies put in place. (*Id.*)

As shown in a video viewed by Dr. Thorsen, Moorhead jumped out of his bunk bed. (Dr. Thorsen Depo., A.R. 399.) He was sitting on his top bunk with his back to the wall and jumped down to the ground. (*Id.*) He was landing on concrete flooring, which had no impact attenuation. (Dr. Thorsen Depo., A.R. 399-400.) A fall from 60 inches to a concrete floor may result in an injury. (Morris Depo., A.R. 377.) MCA recognized that there is a hazard from jumping down from a bunk bed. (Dr. Thorsen Depo., A.R. 401.) As a lot of accidents occur with the use of bunk beds, preventative measures have to be implemented. (Dr. Thorsen Depo., A.R. 402.) MCA was required to put preventative measures in place. (Dr. Thorsen Depo., A.R. 403.)

MCA purported to train or instruct the children in the proper method of exiting the top bunk. (*Id.*) Dr. Thorsen testified, however, that "on the day of the incident, he jumped down and there was a cadre there with many of the children doing the same thing. And nobody stopped them. Nobody instructed them. Nobody did any corrective action in regard to it." (Dr. Thorsen

Depo., A.R. 401.) If Moorhead was instructed on the proper method of exiting, the instruction was not effective and it was not enforced. (*Id.* and 404.) That is, MCA employees failed to implement the mandatory procedures implement for the safety of Petitioner and other minors.

Video evidence exists that not all of the cadets were exiting the bed in the proper manner and no video evidence or written documentation exists that they were corrected when they did this. (Morris Depo., A.R. 371.) MCA needed to enforce the rule not to exit a bunk bed by jumping because it was unsafe. (Dr. Thorsen Depo., A.R. 404.) Put bluntly, MCA had video evidence of the improper and unsafe exits; did nothing to correct the unsafe behavior; and Moorehead was injured as a result. MCA failed to put preventative strategies in place to exit the top bunk in a safe manner to prevent unintentional injuries. (Dr. Thorsen Depo., A.R. 408.)

Moorhead's dismissal from the MCA was allegedly due to lack of participation. (Morris Depo., A.R. 376.) However, Moorhead had no acclamation reports until July 18 and he reported being injured on July 17, (Dr. Thorsen Depo., A.R. 405-406.) "The video shows him jumping out of the bunk bed. He indicates that's when it started hurting. Any by the 18th, it was visible on the videos and also to the cadre. And on the 19th, it was reported officially." (Dr. Thorsen Depo., A.R. 407.)

MCA also ignored the information presented to them and failed to investigate further to determine a definitive cause of Moorhead's continued pain. (Dr. Thorsen Depo., A.R. 409.) They had the authority and ability to obtain further testing for someone who appeared to be suffering. (Dr. Thorsen Depo., p. 410 and 412.) MCA is observing him 24/7, while the medical personnel only saw him for limited periods of time. (Dr. Thorsen Depo., A.R. 411.) MCA is acting in the place of his parent and has responsibility for his care. (Dr. Thorsen Depo., A.R. 413.) and Guardian Appointment, A.R. 388.) Moorhead's mother appointed MCA as his guardian. (*Id.*)

MCA needed to listen to his complaints that he is not doing physically well and he is in pain. (Dr. Thorsen Depo., A.R. 413.) "The school is responsible for the child's health and education while they are under their jurisdiction." (Dr. Thorsen Depo., A.R. 414.) MCA also dismissed him based upon their perceptions of his lack of motivation and effort and failed to consider a medical reason for his actions. (Dr. Thorsen Depo., A.R. 415.) MCA failed to adhere to their own core program components. (Dr. Thorsen Depo., A.R. 416.) MCA did not create a safe environment or supervise him appropriately. (*Id.*)

As a result of Respondents' wrongful acts, Moorhead was injured. Brian M. Torre, M.D. was identified as an expert witness on behalf of Moorhead. Dr. Torre is licensed to practice medicine in the state of Virginia. (Deposition of Brian M Torre, M.D. ("Dr. Torre Depo."), A.R. 422-423.) Dr. Torre is an orthopedic surgeon with a subspecialty in hand and upper extremity. (Dr. Torre Depo., A.R. 424.)

Dr. Torre noted that Moorhead's initial evaluation at MCA did not reveal any orthopedic problems. (Dr. Torre Depo., A.R. 428.) On July 19, Moorhead complained of knee pain stating that he jumped out of his rack and landed wrong. (Dr. Torre Depo., A.R. 429.) The diagnosis was knee strain. (*Id.*) When x-rays were finally completed at the Emergency Department, they demonstrated bilateral proximal tibial metaphysical fractures with subacute findings. (Dr. Torre Depo., A.R. 433.) "Subactue" meant that Moorhead had a pre-existing condition prior to jumping off of the bunk. (*Id.*) The x-rays also demonstrated an acute finding, that is, the cortex of the tibia was broken. (Dr. Torre Depo., A.R. 434.) Dr. Torre stated that there is an acute component on top of a subacute component. (*Id.*) Dr. Torre opined that Petitioner suffered an acute fracture that superimposed his pre-existing stress fracture. (Dr. Torre Depo., A.R. 434.) In essence, the pre-existing stress fractures were healing when the trauma caused additional injury. (Dr. Torre Depo.,

A.R. 435-436.) Dr. Torre also testified that the surgery that Moorhead underwent for his injuries needed to be done. (Dr. Torre Depo., A.R. 439.)

Respondents retained David Soulsby, M.D. as an expert. Dr. Soulsby reviewed Moorhead's medical records review and performed an examination, but did not review the actual x-rays. (Deposition of David Soulsby, M.D. ("Dr. Soulsby Depo."), A.R. 463 and 464.) Dr. Soulsby is a board-certified orthopedic surgeon who currently primarily performs only independent medical examinations. (Dr. Soulsby Depo., A.R. 461-462.)

Dr. Soulsby testified that Moorhead had bilateral tibial fractures, which he would classify as pathological rather than subacute. (Dr. Soulsby Depo., A.R. 465.) Pathological fractures are fractures that are not specifically related to trauma, but could be aggravated by trauma. (*Id.*) Dr. Soulsby opined, to a reasonable medical probability, that Moorhead had stress fractures that preexisted the event of getting off of the bed and that event caused an aggravation of the stress fractures. (Dr. Soulsby Depo., A.R. 468, 474, 476, and 477.) Further, Dr. Soulsby agreed that the surgery Moorhead underwent was necessitated by the aggravation of his preexisting condition. (Dr. Soulsby Depo., A.R. 467 and 475.)

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The Circuit Court of Preston County failed to follow the proper procedure in determining whether Respondents were entitled to judgment as a matter of law. The Court decided issues of material fact; disregarded facts and law that did not support its conclusion, and determined the credibility of witnesses. A review of the Court's *Order* demonstrates that no factual disputes are identified and fails to explain why the supposedly "agreed facts" are the only facts necessary for the determination of the motion.

Further, the Circuit Court erred in determining that Respondents' employees were

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