IN THE WEST VIRGINIA INTERMEDIATE COURT OF APPEALS

ICA EFiled: Jan 12 2023 10:52PM EST Transaction ID 68880928

Docket No. 22-ICA-58

(Underlying Preston County Civil Action No. 18-C-71)

Jason Ryan Moorhead, Petitioner / Plaintiff Below,

v.

The West Virginia Army National Guard and West Virginia Mountaineer Challenge Academy, Respondents / Defendant Below.

RESPONDENTS' BRIEF

Counsel for Petitioner

Stephen P. New, Esq. (#7756) New, Taylor & Associates 430 Harper Park Drive PO Box 5516 Beckley, WV 25801 Phone: (304) 250-6017 Fax: (304) 250-6012 Email: steve@newlawoffice.com **Counsel for Respondents**

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

II. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The Circuit Court of Preston County properly granted Respondents' motion for summary judgment. As an agency of the State of West Virginia, Respondents are shielded by the qualified immunity doctrine. This immunity absolves such agencies from liability for negligence-based claims that are not based on violations of clearly-established rights or laws or are fraudulent, malicious, or oppressive. The alleged acts or omissions of the MCA and its personnel in this case were functions left to their discretion, as they were not functions set forth with any direction or mandate so as to constitute them ministerial in nature. There is no question that Respondents are entitled to qualified immunity in this case, as the alleged acts or omissions of its employees in this case were purely and solely discretionary and did not violate any statutory or constitutional right of the Petitioner.

Furthermore, the MCA is not a public school subject to the authority of any Board of Education in West Virginia. It is a program operated by the Adjutant General under the West Virginia Department of Homeland Security and is not constitutionally mandated to provide an education to any of its voluntary participants. The West Virginia Legislature has made it clear that an MCA participant is withdrawn from the West Virginia public school system. Petitioner did not have a constitutional or statutory right to attend the MCA, and even if he did, he was given every opportunity to participate in the program and failed to do so. As such, Petitioner's claims do not fall under any exception to the qualified immunity to which Respondents are entitled.

The MCA is a voluntary program, not a school formed under our state's constitution. There was no "special relationship" between Petitioner and Respondents, and Respondents did not stand *in loco parentis* with respect to Petitioner. The doctrine of *in loco parentis* only applies to licensed teachers and school personnel in a public school setting under West Virginia law. Petitioner has identified absolutely no law, statute, or authority that brings Respondents within the purview of *in loco parentis* status. Therefore, Petitioner cannot use this inapplicable doctrine as the basis for a perceived violation of statutory or constitutional law that circumvents Respondents' qualified immunity protection.

Petitioner has also failed to allege a material factual issue with respect to qualified immunity exceptions. He must adhere to a heightened pleading requirement where Respondents are invoking immunity and he cannot do so. Petitioner has simply failed to develop any evidence of fraudulent, malicious, or oppressive conduct on the part of the MCA that would strip Respondents of qualified immunity. For the above reasons, and for the arguments of law stated herein, the Petition for Appeal should be denied and the Circuit Court should be upheld as to all matters before this Court.

III. STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT AND DECISION

Pursuant to the criteria set forth in Rule 18(a) of the Revised Rules of Appellate Procedure (R.R.A.P.), Respondents believe that the deliberation process would be aided by oral argument in this matter.

IV. STANDARD OF REVIEW

Pursuant to Rule 56(a) of the West Virginia Rules of Civil Procedure, "[a] party seeking to recover upon a claim, counterclaim, or cross-claim or to obtain a declaratory judgment may...move with or without supporting affidavits for a summary judgment in the party's favor upon all part thereof." W.Va. R. Civ. P. 56(a). Under this standard, "a party seeking summary judgment must make a preliminary showing that no genuine issue of material fact exists." *Poweridge Unit Owners Ass'n v. Highland Props.*, 196 W.Va. 692, 698-699, 474 S.E.2d 872, 878-879 (1996). "[A] motion for summary judgment should be granted only when it is clear that there is no genuine issue of fact to be tried and inquiry concerning the facts is not desirable to clarify the application of law." Syl. Pt. 3, *Aetna Cas. & Sur. Co. v. Federal Ins. Co. of New York*, 148 W.Va. 160, 133 S.E.2d 770 (1963). A plaintiff seeking to prevail against a defendant who invokes qualified immunity must meet a heightened pleading requirement: "in civil actions where

immunities are implicated, the trial court must insist on heightened pleading by the plaintiff." *Hutchison v. City of Huntington*, 198 W.Va. 139, 149, 479 S.E.2d 649, 659 (1996).

Significantly, Respondents' entitlement to qualified immunity is ripe for the Court's determination as the United States Supreme Court and Supreme Court of Appeals of West Virginia view immunity as "immunity from suit rather than a mere defense to liability" that is "effectively lost if a case is erroneously permitted to go to trial." *Mitchell v. Forsyth*, 472 U.S. 511, 513, 105 S. Ct. 2806, 2808 (1985); *Accord Hutchison*, 198 W.Va. at 147, 479 S.E.2d at 657 (1996). The Supreme Court emphasizes the importance of determining immunity at the <u>earliest possible stage</u> of litigation to avoid expending unnecessary costs and resources. *Saucier v. Katz*, 533 U.S. 194, 201, 121 S. Ct. 2151, 2156 (2001); *Siegert v. Gilley*, 500 U.S. 226, 231, 111 S. Ct. 1789, 1793 (1991); *Harlow v. Fitzgerald*, 457 U.S. 800, 818, 102 S. Ct. 2727, 2738 (1982). *Accord* Syl. Pt. 1, *Hutchison*.

V. ARGUMENT

Petitioner alleges that the Preston County Circuit Court improperly found, as a matter of law, that the Respondents were not liable for Petitioner's claims due to the application of qualified immunity to a state agency. Petitioner further claims that the Circuit Court improperly relied upon "limited information" to reach its conclusion without fully considering or explaining disputed facts in the case. Petitioner also claims that the Circuit Court improperly found that the Respondents were engaged in discretionary acts and that Respondents are not subject to the doctrine of *in loco parentis*. Lastly, Petitioner claims that the Circuit Court improperly found that Respondents have

not fraudulently and maliciously sought to violate Petitioner's constitutional right to an education.

A. THE PRESTON COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT PROPERLY FOUND, AS A MATTER OF LAW, THAT THE RESPONDENTS ARE ENTITLED TO QUALIFIED IMMUNITY AS TO PETITIONER'S CLAIMS, WHICH DO NOT FALL UNDER CLEARLY RECOGNIZED EXCEPTIONS TO THE QUALIFIED IMMUNITY DOCTRINE.

As a threshold issue, Respondents must first address Petitioner's generalized claims that the Circuit Court committed error(s) sufficient to invalidate the Order granting summary judgment in favor of Respondents. One of Petitioner's claims is that the Circuit Court "erroneously recites the claims alleged in the *Complaint* as a talismanic⁴ summary for the extensive factual testimony presented by the parties." Pet. Brief at 14. It appears that Petitioner is suggesting that the Circuit Court was capricious in its selection of the facts and evidence that it considered in granting summary judgment in favor of Respondents. However, Respondents believe that the Circuit Court gave careful consideration to all of the relevant facts by holding two days of hearings on the dispositive motions and addressing various questions to both counsel to elucidate the facts and arguments.⁵ A.R. at 896-1013. If the Court relied upon the claims raised in Petitioner's Complaint, it can hardly be faulted for that as Petitioner only attempted to amend his *Complaint*, to bring in new causes of action, in the fourth year of this five-year-old case, but then Petitioner withdrew his Motion for Leave to Amend during the oral argument on the same as counsel decided that everything about his case sounded in "simple negligence". A.R. at 896. Nevertheless, the Circuit Court more than addressed the reasons why a case that sounds in simple negligence against a state

⁴ It is unclear whether Petitioner is referring to a talisman as an object ascribed with magical powers intended to heal or protect the Respondents; a reference to Stephen King's *The Talisman* which examines themes of lost innocence and the corrupting nature of power; or as some other usage with which Respondents' counsel is unfamiliar

⁵ Over the course of the two hearings over two days, the parties presented their arguments to the Court for more than five collective hours. During this time, the Honorable Steven L. Shaffer had before him, and diligently referred to, the parties' dispositive motions, supporting memoranda, and corresponding exhibits, which make up the vast majority of the 1,016 *Joint Appendix Record* agreed to by the parties in this appeal.

agency engaged in discretionary acts is defeated by the qualified immunity doctrine, regardless of whether the Circuit Court addressed each and every one of Petitioner's various claims and subclaims in this matter.

The MCA is an agency of the State of West Virginia, which entitles it to qualified immunity from Petitioner's negligence claims. An agency's entitlement to qualified immunity "is an immunity from suit rather than a mere defense to liability" which is "effectively lost if the case erroneously is permitted to go to trial." *W.Va. Bd. of Educ. v. Marple*, 236 W.Va. 654, 660, 783 S.E.2d 75, 81 (2015). Under West Virginia qualified immunity law, modeled after its federal counterpart, qualified immunity shields state employees from liability for claims arising out of acts or omissions that do not violate clearly established rights or are fraudulent, malicious, or oppressive. *See* Syl. Pt. 6, *Clark v. Dunn*, 195, W.Va. 272, 465 S.E.2d 751 (2014).

To the extent that governmental acts or omissions which give rise to a cause of action fall within the category of discretionary functions, a reviewing court must determine whether the plaintiff has demonstrated that such acts or omissions are in violation of clearly established statutory or constitutional rights or laws of which a reasonable person would have known or are otherwise fraudulent, malicious, or oppressive in accordance with *State v. Chase Securities, Inc.,* 188 W.Va. 356, 424 S.E.2d 591 (1992). In absence of such a showing, both the State and its officials or employees charged with such acts or omissions are immune from liability.

Id. at Syl. Pt. 11 (emphasis added). To determine whether the state agencies or employees are entitled to immunity, a reviewing court must first identify the nature of the governmental acts or omissions which give rise to the suit to determine whether such acts or omissions constitute legislative, judicial, executive, or administrative policy-making acts or involve other discretionary governmental functions. *See* Syl. Pt. 10, *W.Va. Reg'l Jail & Corr. Facility Auth. v. A.B.*, 234 W.Va. 492, 766 S.E.2d 751 (2014). For those state officials whose functions are discretionary in nature,

qualified immunity "is broad and protects 'all but the plainly incompetent or those who knowingly violate the law." *Crouch v. Gillispie*, 240 W.Va. 229, 234, 809 S.E.2d 699, 704 (2018). "A public officer is entitled to qualified immunity for discretionary acts, even if committed negligently." *Mason v. Wagner*, 236 W.Va. 488, 500, 781 S.E.2d 936, 948 (2015).

There is no question that the claims asserted by Petitioner are grounded exclusively in simple negligence as to the Respondents. A review of the *Complaint* and subsequent pleadings shows that each of Petitioner's claims is premised on Respondents' alleged failure to adhere to certain duties. Moreover, the MCA, based upon the medical opinions provided by the Preston Memorial treatment providers, exercised its discretion with respect to how to handle Petitioner in the MCA setting. *A.R.* at 134. There should be no dispute that Respondents' operation of the MCA requires the exercise of discretionary decision making. *Cf. Crouch*, at 234, 809 S.E.2d at 704. At issue is whether Respondents may be stripped of qualified immunity because Petitioner alleges, without meeting the heightened pleading standard, that Respondents violated a clearly recognized statutory or constitutional right. *See B.R. v. W.Va. Dept. of Health & Human Res.*, No. 18-1141 (W.Va., Oct. 13, 2020) ("Pleading simple negligence, without a violation of a clearly established right, is insufficient to overcome qualified immunity.")

There is no genuine, material factual issue that precludes qualified immunity for Respondents in this cause of action. The record is clear that Respondents did not violate any clearly established statutory or constitutional right that would strip them of qualified immunity. In Petitioner's case, he underwent medical evaluation a total of four (4) times in the ten (10) days he was at the MCA. He was placed on an activity restriction by the individuals with the expertise and licensure to provide medical care and evaluations, which was honored by the MCA. Given Petitioner's lack of observable signs of an acute, traumatic injury, the Preston Memorial medical providers made a good faith diagnosis that Petitioner was suffering nothing more than tendonitis from an increase in activity to which he was not accustomed. *A.R.* at 168-169. Multiple MCA employees testified that if they had reason to believe Petitioner suffered a significant injury, he would have been taken to the hospital for further evaluation. *See A.R.* at 135; *A.R.* at 112; *A.R.* at 234-235. MCA personnel exercised their discretion in their approach to Petitioner based on what they believed was an accurate medical opinion as to his health and ability to participate. This conduct amounts to simple negligence, at best, and clearly entitles Respondents to qualified immunity for Petitioner's claims.

There was no violation of any clearly established statutory or constitutional rights regarding Petitioner's participation and discharge from the MCA. Petitioner's lack of focus and inability to stay attentive were documented from the moment he applied to join the MCA. *A.R.* at 722-743. During the MCA's acclimation period, Petitioner was cited by multiple MCA personnel as demonstrating a persistent lack of motivation and unwillingness to perform a myriad of MCA activities of differing participation levels. *Id.* This unwillingness to perform was not limited to physical training or other similar activities, as Petitioner was also noted as being unwilling to even shower and lacking insight as to what the program expected of him. All of the Acclimation Incident Reports completed by various MCA personnel paint a collective picture of Petitioner as an unmotivated individual who made excuses for almost every activity and function in which he was asked to participate. *Id.*

Once Petitioner reported his pain to the MCA staff, arrangements were made for him to be medically evaluated. The Preston Memorial medical personnel restricted Petitioner from engaging in lower body physical activity, which was honored by the MCA. Despite his return to full duty by the Preston Memorial medical personnel, Petitioner continued to demonstrate an unwillingness to participate. The MCA had no reason or indication to believe that Petitioner was physically unable to participate given the representations of the Preston Memorial medical personnel, the entity charged with the responsibility for providing medical opinions to a reasonable degree of medical certainty. In light of the information available to them, the MCA made the legitimate, discretionary decision to discharge Petitioner from the program at the end of his two-week Acclimation Period. This decision was made not only because Petitioner did not adhere to the MCA's goals, but also so that Petitioner's lack of motivation and willingness to participate did not negatively affect the remaining at-risk youth at the MCA. *A.R.* at 163. For the forgoing reasons, Respondents are entitled to summary judgment as a matter of law and the Preston County Circuit Court should be affirmed.

B. THE PRESTON COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT PROPERLY DETERMINED, AS A MATTER OF LAW, THAT THE MOUNTAINEER CHALLENGE ACADEMY WAS ENGAGED IN DISCRETIONARY FUNCTIONS AND NOT MINISTERIAL DUTIES REGARDING ENFORCEMENT OF PETITIONER'S METHOD OF EXITING HIS BED.

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